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I INTRODUCTION

Lead Plaintiff City of Pontiac Reestablished General Employees’ Retirement System and
City of Pontiac Police & Fire Retirement System (“Lead Plaintiff” or the “Pension Funds”)
respectfully submits this memorandum in support of its motion for final approval of the Settlement
of the claims in this Litigation against Defendants Grubhub, Inc. (“Grubhub” or the “Company”),
Matthew Maloney, and Adam DeWitt (collectively, “Defendants”).! The $42 million all-cash
settlement is the result of Lead Plaintiff’s and Lead Counsel’s diligent efforts in litigating this matter
and the parties’ arm’s-length settlement negotiations with the assistance of an experienced and well-
respected mediator, Robert A. Meyer of JAMS. Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel believe the
Settlement is a highly-favorable result for the Class and therefore merits approval.

This case has been vigorously litigated from its commencement, as Defendants have
maintained throughout that Lead Plaintiff could not adequately plead or prove the claims asserted.
Lead Counsel expended substantial effort in reaching the Settlement, including, having: conducted a
thorough investigation that included analysis of SEC filings, media, analyst reports, press releases,
shareholder communications, relevant case law and authorities, and other publicly-available
information; prepared the detailed, 159-paragraph Complaint; prepared an extensive brief in
opposition to Defendants’ motion to dismiss (which Judge Norgle denied in full); conducted
significant written discovery served on Defendants and more than 30 non-parties, resulting in the
production of over two million pages of documents; obtained and worked with a market efficiency
expert and defended that expert’s deposition in connection with Lead Plaintiff’s motion for class

certification; defended two Lead Plaintiff representative depositions; prepared for mediation,

' Capitalized terms used herein that are not otherwise defined shall have the meanings provided in the

Stipulation of Settlement dated October 7, 2022 (ECF 94) (the “Stipulation”). Citations are omitted and
emphasis is added throughout unless otherwise noted.

-1-
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including consultation with a market efficiency and damages expert and the exchange of briefs
detailing the parties’ respective positions; and participated in two mediation sessions before Mr.
Meyer. See Declaration of James E. Barz in Support of: (1) Lead Plaintiff’s Motion for Final
Approval of Class Action Settlement and Approval of Plan of Allocation; and (2) Lead Counsel’s
Motion for an Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses and Awards to Lead Plaintiff Pursuant to 15
U.S.C. §78u-4(a)(4) (“Barz Decl.”), 5, submitted herewith.

The $42 million Settlement provides the Class with a certain and substantial recovery without
the risk, delay, and expense of continued litigation. Lead Counsel, who is well-respected and has
substantial experience in prosecuting securities class actions, has concluded that the Settlement is a
very good result for the Class. This conclusion is based on its diligent prosecution of the Litigation
and all the circumstances present here, as well as the substantial risks, expenses, and uncertainties of
continued litigation, the relative strengths and weaknesses of the claims and defenses, the legal and
factual issues presented, the likelihood of obtaining a larger judgment against Defendants after trial,
and past experience in litigating similar actions. Even if Lead Plaintiff was successful at trial and on
post-trial appeals, any recovery remained uncertain and would have been years down the road. Lead
Plaintiff, who has a significant stake in the Litigation, also believes that the Settlement is in the best
interest of the Class. See accompanying Declaration of Sheldon Albritton in Support of Lead
Plaintiff’s Motion for Final Approval of Settlement (“Albritton Decl.”), §7; Declaration of Matthew
Nye in Support of Lead Plaintiff’s Motion for Final Approval of Settlement (“Nye Decl.”), 7.

For all the reasons discussed herein and in the concurrently-filed declarations, Lead Plaintiff
respectfully submits that the Settlement is a very good recovery for the Class and should be
approved by the Court. Likewise, the Plan of Allocation, which was developed by Lead Counsel and
its damages expert based on an assessment of the damages theories asserted in the Litigation, is fair,
reasonable, and adequate, and also should be approved by the Court.

2.
4869-6401-4911.v2
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II. SUMMARY OF THE LITIGATION

On July 24, 2020, Lead Plaintiff filed the operative Complaint for Violations of the Federal
Securities Laws (“Complaint”). ECF 36. Lead Plaintiff alleges violations of §§10(b) and 20(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, claiming that Defendants made false and misleading
statements that allegedly concealed from investors that, in expanding into new territories, Grubhub
was failing to build adequate restaurant density necessary to attract high-quality and profitable
diners, the Company was attracting lower-quality and less-profitable diners, and the Company’s
business strategy and enterprise customer contracts were hurting profitability. The Complaint
alleges that the false and misleading statements and omissions artificially inflated Grubhub’s stock
price and when the truth was eventually disclosed, the price of Grubhub stock declined, resulting in
substantial damages to the Class. On November 11, 2020, Defendants moved to dismiss. ECF 39.
Lead Plaintiff persuasively rebutted each of the Defendants’ arguments in its opposition brief. ECF
41. On September 7, 2021, Judge Norgle denied the motion in full. ECF 45.

Following the Court’s September 7 Order, Lead Counsel drafted comprehensive written
discovery, including document requests, interrogatories, and requests for admission to Defendants,
and subpoenas to more than 30 non-parties. Defendants and certain non-parties produced more than
275,000 documents, exceeding two million pages. See Barz Decl., 45(c), (d). In addition, Lead
Plaintiff, working with Lead Counsel, responded to interrogatories, produced documents, submitted
affidavits, and sat for depositions. See id., §5(e). Lead Counsel retained a market efficiency expert,
Chad W. Coffman (CFA), in connection with Lead Plaintiff’s motion for class certification, which
Defendants opposed and was pending at the time the parties reached a settlement. See id., §5(f). Mr.
Coffman and two of Lead Plaintiff’s investment advisors were also deposed. See id., 5(g).

On April 6, 2022, in an effort to conserve judicial resources and pursue a fair and efficient
resolution, the parties participated in a full-day mediation session with an experienced mediator,

-3.
4869-6401-4911.v2



Case: 1:19-cv-07665 Document #: 104 Filed: 12/08/22 Page 8 of 21 PagelD #:2099

Robert A. Meyer of JAMS. Prior to that mediation, Lead Plaintiff and Defendants prepared and
exchanged materials detailing their positions on liability and damages. The initial mediation ended
with the parties too far apart to reach an agreement, and the Litigation continued. The parties
participated in another mediation session with Mr. Meyer on August 23, 2022, which again ended
without reaching an agreement. Thereafter, the parties continued to engage in settlement discussions
through Mr. Meyer, and, on September 9, 2022, Mr. Meyer issued a “mediator’s proposal” to settle
the action for $42 million. The parties then negotiated the Stipulation and supporting exhibits, and
executed them on October 7, 2022. ECF 94. This Court preliminarily approved the Settlement on
October 14, 2022 (the “Preliminary Approval Order”). ECF 99.

III. LEAD PLAINTIFF HAS PROVIDED NOTICE IN COMPLIANCE WITH
RULE 23 AND DUE PROCESS

In granting preliminary approval of the Settlement, the Court approved the form and content
of the Notice, Proof of Claim, and Summary Notice as well as Lead Plaintiff’s proposed plan for the
distribution and mailing of the Notice, which included all the information required by Rule 23 and
the PSLRA. See ECF 99, 96. As detailed in the accompanying declaration of the Claims
Administrator, Gilardi & Co. LLC, as of December 6, 2022, more than 70,600 copies of the Notice
have been mailed to potential Class Members, brokers, and nominees. See Declaration of Ross D.
Murray Regarding Notice Dissemination, Publication, and Requests for Exclusion Received to Date,
dated December 6, 2022, 911 (“Gilardi Decl.”), submitted herewith. In addition, the Summary
Notice was published in The Wall Street Journal and transmitted over Business Wire on November
11,2022. Id.,q12. The Claims Administrator has also established a dedicated Settlement website,
www.GrubhubSecuritiesLitigation.com, to provide potential Class Members with information
concerning the Settlement and access to copies of the Notice and other important documents. /d.,

914. This combination of individual notice by first-class mail to Class Members who could be

-4
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identified with reasonable effort, supplemented by notice in an appropriate, widely circulated
publication, transmitted over the newswire, and set forth on internet websites, constitutes “the best
notice . . . practicable under the circumstances.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(¢)(2)(B).

IV.  ARGUMENT
A. The Proposed Settlement Warrants Final Approval

“Federal courts naturally favor the settlement of class action litigation.” Isby v. Bayh, 75 F.3d
1191, 1196 (7th Cir. 1996). Under Rule 23, as amended in 2018, a district court may approve of a
class action settlement upon finding “that it is fair, reasonable, and adequate” after considering
whether: (1) the class representatives and counsel adequately represented the class; (2) the proposed
settlement was negotiated at arm’s length; (3) the relief provided for the class is adequate, taking into
account, among other things, the costs, risks, and delay of trial and appeal; and (4) the settlement treats
class members equitably relative to each other. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2)(A)-(D). Prior to the Rule 23
amendment, the Seventh Circuit provided the following factors for district courts to consider:

(1) the strength of the case for plaintiffs on the merits, balanced against the extent of

settlement offer; (2) the complexity, length, and expense of further litigation; (3) the

amount of opposition to the settlement; (4) the reaction of members of the class to

the settlement; (5) the opinion of competent counsel; and (6) stage of the proceedings
and the amount of discovery completed.

Wong v. Accretive Health, Inc., 773 F.3d 859, 863 (7th Cir. 2014).2
Given the $42 million all-cash recovery obtained, the risks faced, and the extensive arm’s-
length negotiations and efforts of Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel that led to the agreement, the

Settlement satisfies each of the Rule 23(e)(2) and Accretive factors.

2 The Advisory Committee Notes to the 2018 amendments to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure indicate

that the four factors provided in Rule 23(e)(2) are not intended to “displace” any factor previously adopted by
the courts, but “rather to focus the court and the lawyers on the core concerns of procedure and substance that
should guide the decision whether to approve the proposal.”

-5-
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1. Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel Adequately Represented the
Class

Rule 23(e)(2) advises district courts to consider whether “the class representatives and class
counsel have adequately represented the class.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2)(A).

As detailed herein, in the Barz and Lead Plaintiff declarations, and in the Memorandum of
Points and Authorities in Support of Lead Counsel’s Motion for an Award of Attorneys’ Fees and
Expenses and Awards to Lead Plaintiff Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(a)(4) (“Fee Memorandum”),
both Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel have adequately represented the Class by diligently prosecuting
this Litigation and securing the favorable Settlement, through, for example:

o Lead Counsel’s extensive investigation in connection with preparing Lead Plaintiff’s
detailed, 159-paragraph Complaint (see Barz Decl., q5(a), (b));

o full briefing on Defendants’ motion to dismiss, followed by the Court’s September 7,
2021 order denying the motion in full (see id., §5(b));

o substantial written and document discovery resulting in the production by Defendants
and non-parties of over two million pages of documents which Lead Counsel has
reviewed and analyzed (see id., §5(c));

. retention of a market efficiency and damages expert, Mr. Coffman, in connection
with class certification (see id., J5(%));

o briefing on Lead Plaintiff’s motion for class certification and defending the
depositions of Mr. Coffman and two Lead Plaintiff representatives (see id., 15(f)-
(g)); and

o preparation for and attending two mediations, including the exchange of mediation

briefs detailing the parties’ respective positions on liability and damages and
settlement demands (see id., 115(1)-(j)).

Further, in actively overseeing and participating in this Litigation, each Lead Plaintiff,
working with Lead Counsel, responded to interrogatories, produced documents, submitted affidavits
in support of class certification, and prepared for and sat for a deposition. Barz Decl., 5(¢e). Lead
Plaintiff also retained highly-experienced and well-respected counsel, who not only zealously

prosecuted the Litigation from investigation through negotiations, but who were able to secure a very

-6-
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favorable settlement. See Barz Decl., 95, 17-23. This diligent and adequate representation of the
Class supports final approval. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2)(A).

2. The Settlement Resulted from Extensive Arm’s-Length
Negotiations

Rule 23(e)(2) next advises district courts to consider whether the settlement was “negotiated
at arm’s length.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2)(B).

Here, the Settling Parties reached the Settlement only after protracted, arm’s-length
negotiations between experienced counsel, including two mediation sessions with Mr. Meyer, an
experienced mediator. See Barz Decl., 45(h)-(j), 6, 10. At the time of the April 6, 2022 and August
23, 2022 mediations based on their diligent representation, as just discussed, Lead Plaintiff and Lead
Counsel had achieved a substantial litigation victory early in the case, were well into discovery, had
fully briefed Lead Plaintiff’s class certification motion, and were therefore well-informed of the
strengths and weaknesses of the claims.

The mediations involved the further exchange of the parties’ respective views on Lead
Plaintiff’s claims, Defendants’ defenses, potentially available insurance coverage, and issues related
to damages. The negotiations were hard-fought, as reflected by the motion to dismiss briefing, class
certification briefing, and the length of negotiations. See id., 6. The parties participated in two
thorough mediation sessions and additional discussions with Mr. Meyer over the course of four
months, but the sessions ended without agreement. Id., §95(i)-(j). The parties were only able to
reach an agreement after continued negotiations and the issuance of a “mediator’s proposal” by Mr.
Meyer to settle the litigation for $42 million. See id., 6. This contentious, well-informed, arm’s-
length negotiation process supports final approval. See Accretive, 773 F.3d at 864 (affirming
approval of securities class action settlement before a ruling on the motion to dismiss where “[t]he

settlement was reached through extensive arm’s-length negotiations with an experienced third-party

-7 -
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mediator”); In re Career Educ. Corp. Sec. Litig.,2008 WL 8666579, at *3 (N.D. Ill. June 26, 2008)
(Lefkow, J.) (approving settlement that “resulted from arms-length negotiations and voluntary
mediation between experienced counsel”).

3. The Settlement Provides a Favorable Benefit to the Class
Considering the Costs, Risks, and Delay of Trial and Appeal

Rule 23(e)(2) next advises district courts to consider whether “the relief provided for the
class is adequate, taking into account . . . the costs, risks, and delay of trial and appeal.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 23(e)(2)(C). The Seventh Circuit has likewise instructed courts to consider: (1) the strength
of the case for plaintiffs on the merits, balanced against the extent of settlement offer; and (2) the
complexity, length, and expense of further litigation. See Accretive, 773 F.3d at 863-64. The $42
million cash recovery obtained for the benefit of the Class provides highly-favorable relief
considering the legal, factual, and practical risks of continued litigation against the Defendants.
And, the “stage of the proceedings and the amount of discovery completed” weighs in favor of
approval as Lead Plaintiff had prevailed on the motion to dismiss after extensive briefing, conducted
a substantial amount of discovery (including review and analysis of more than two million pages of
documents), and filed Lead Plaintiff’s motion and supporting papers for class certification at the time
of settlement. See Barz Decl., §5. The parties had also conducted class-related discovery as Lead
Counsel defended the depositions of Mr. Coffman and two representatives of Lead Plaintiff, and
Defendants further deposed two of Lead Plaintiff’s investment advisors. See id., 5(g).

a. Risks to Establishing Liability

While Lead Plaintiff believes that it had assembled a strong case against Defendants for
liability, including a favorable ruling on the motion to dismiss, a finding in favor of the class at trial

was never assured. Lead Plaintiff would need to prove to the satisfaction of the Court and jury that

4869-6401-4911.v2
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Defendants made false and misleading statements, with scienter, that were material to a reasonable
investor. Defendants have adamantly denied liability. See ECF 39 (Defendants’ motion to dismiss).
Defendants, for instance, argued that Lead Plaintiff’s alleged misstatements regarding the
adequacy of its restaurant density and ability to attract high-quality and profitable diners were not
actionable. According to Defendants, “[b]ecause there was nothing false or misleading about the
challenged statements at the time they were made, there was no duty to disclose anything further
..” See ECF 39 at 8. Defendants also argued that their statements about the strength of
Grubhub’s business were non-actionable statements of opinion that were sincerely held and that
Defendants’ statements about Grubhub’s business model were merely statements of corporate
optimism, i.e., immaterial puffery. See id. at 9-11.

Defendants further maintained that Lead Plaintiff could not establish scienter, arguing, for
example, that the Complaint lacked particularized allegations that any individual defendant had
possession of confidential information that would render his statements knowingly false or
misleading when made. See id. at 12-13. Defendants also argued that Lead Plaintiff’s circumstantial
allegations, such as motive to conceal negative trends, failed to establish a strong inference of
scienter. See id. at 12. Although Judge Norgle denied Defendants’ motion to dismiss, Defendants
no doubt would continue to assert these and other arguments at summary judgment and trial.

b. Risks Related to Proving Loss Causation and Damages
Even if Lead Plaintiff established liability, it faced further risks and uncertainty regarding
proof of loss causation and damages. Defendants likely would have argued on summary judgment
that Lead Plaintiff could not establish loss causation with respect to the alleged corrective disclosure
of the alleged fraud. In fact, Defendants likely would retain experts to opine that certain (if not all)
of the alleged losses did not correlate to damages attributable to the alleged misstatements, which
could reduce or even eliminate recoverable damages. See, e.g., ECF 48 at 75 (Defendants claiming

-9.
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that “the purported misrepresentations and omissions alleged in the Complaint did not affect the
market price of Grubhub stock” and Plaintiff “cannot prove” damages); ECF 82 at 21 (arguing that
Lead Plaintiff’s expert failed to consider the extent to which confounding (non-fraud) information
negatively impacted Grubhub’s stock price). Although Lead Plaintiff would retain experts to opine
in support of Lead Plaintiff’s causation and damages theories, there is no guarantee that this “battle
of the experts” would result in a favorable outcome for the Class.

As set forth above, with conflicting arguments and evidence, there is no certainty that Lead
Plaintiff would prevail on summary judgment, at trial, or on appeal with respect to liability or
damages. See Retsky Family Ltd. P’ship v. Price Waterhouse LLP,2001 WL 1568856, at *2 (N.D.
Il. Dec. 10, 2001) (Darrah, J.) (“Securities fraud litigation is long, complex and uncertain.”).
Moreover, the likely “complexity, length, and expense of further litigation” would have been
substantial, which weighs in favor of settling the claims. Accretive, 773 F.3d at 863. For example,
to prove its claims against Defendants, Lead Plaintiff would obtain and fully review and analyze
additional documents from Defendants and non-parties. Defendants in turn would likely continue
seeking documents from Lead Plaintiff, and both sides could take numerous additional depositions.
See Schulte v. Fifth Third Bank, 805 F. Supp. 2d 560, 586 (N.D. Ill. 2011) (““The costs associated

299

with discovery in complex class actions can be significant.””). As discussed, each side could then
retain experts, resulting in a “battle of the experts,” which is a costly, uncertain, and difficult-to-
predict endeavor. See Accretive, 773 F.3d at 863 (noting that calculating damages in a securities

class action would have “resulted in a lengthy and expensive battle of the experts, with the costs of

such a battle borne by the class — exactly the type of litigation the parties were hoping to avoid by

-10 -
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settling”). Even if Lead Plaintiff was able to win on every issue, the entire litigation process could
span several years, with costs of defense reducing available insurance.> See Barz Decl., q8.

In contrast, the $42 million settlement, at this juncture, results in a certain and favorable
recovery. Based on preliminary damage estimates derived during the course of the Litigation, Lead
Counsel believes that if Lead Plaintiff prevailed on liability for the entire Class Period and assuming a
100% claims rate, the Settlement represents approximately 7% of the maximum recoverable damages
estimated by Lead Plaintiff’s expert, but in considering potential arguments that could have been
advanced concerning damages, the Settlement could also reflect as much as 50% of recoverable
damages. This range is multiples above the median recovery of 1.8% in securities class actions in
2021. Ex. A (Janeen MclIntosh and Svetlana Starykh, Recent Trends in Securities Class Action
Litigation: 2021 Full-Year Review, NERA Economic Consulting (Jan. 25, 2022)), at 24, Fig. 22.

In short, the $42 million settlement is a highly-favorable result, and it was accomplished without
the considerable risk, expense, and delay of further fact and expert discovery, summary judgment
motions, and trial and post-trial litigation. See Reynolds v. Ben. Nat’l Bank, 288 F.3d 277, 284 (7th
Cir. 2002) (“To most people, a dollar today is worth a great deal more than a dollar ten years from
now.”); Accretive, 773 F.3d at 864 (affirming approval of $14 million settlement where the defendant
“was prepared to vigorously contest the lawsuit, having raised potentially valid defenses[,]
[defendant]’s motion to dismiss was fully briefed and argued before the district court[,] [flurther
litigation almost certainly would have involved complex and lengthy discovery and expert testimony[,
and] [i]nsurance proceeds to fund a settlement or judgment were a limited, wasting asset, i.e., further

defense costs would have reduced those funds). This factor strongly supports final approval.

3 Even a meritorious case can be lost at trial. See, e.g., Hubbard v. BankAtlantic Bancorp, Inc., 688 F.3d

713 (11th Cir. 2012) (affirming judgment as a matter of law following jury verdict partially in plaintiffs’
favor). And even trial victory may not end the litigation. See, e.g., Glickenhaus & Co. v. Household Int’l,
Inc., 787 F.3d 408 (7th Cir. 2015) (ordering new trial 13 years after case was commenced).

-11 -
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4. The Settlement Is Fair and Adequate Under the Remaining
Rule 23(e)(2) Factors

Rule 23(e)(2) also advises district courts to consider: (i) “the effectiveness of any proposed
method of distributing relief to the class”; (ii) “the terms of any proposed award of attorney’s fees,
including timing of payment”; (iii) “any agreement required to be identified under Rule 23(¢)(3)”;
and (iv) whether the settlement “treats class members equitably relative to each other.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 23(e)(2)(C)(i1)-(iv), (e)(2)(D). Each of these factors further weighs in favor of final approval.

a. The Method for Distributing Relief Is Effective

As explained in §III above and §IV.B. below, the methods used in the notice and claims
administration process are effective and they provide Class Members with the necessary information
to receive their pro rata share of the Settlement. See Gilardi Decl., Ex. A (Notice at 4-7). The
claims process provides for straightforward cash payments based on the trading information
provided, and it provides claimants with an opportunity to cure any deficiencies or request review by
the Court of any denial of their claims. /d.; Stipulation, 96.7. This method for distributing relief in
securities class actions is well-established and effective. See infra, §IV.B.

b. Counsel’s Fees Are Reasonable

As detailed in the Fee Memorandum, the proposed attorneys’ fees of 30% of the Settlement
Amount plus litigation expenses and charges, are reasonable in light of the efforts of Lead Counsel,
the contingent nature of its representation, and the risks in the Litigation. Since this is not a “claims
made” settlement, the entire Net Settlement Fund will be distributed to Class Members until it is no
longer economically feasible, so there is no risk that counsel will be paid but Class Members will
not. Cf. Eubank v. Pella Corp., 753 F.3d 718, 726-27 (7th Cir. 2014) (rejecting settlement where
attorneys would receive fees based on inflated settlement value, as defendants were likely to pay

only a fraction of the purported settlement value to the class).

-12 -
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c. Settlement-Related Agreements

In addition to the Stipulation, the Settling Parties entered into a confidential Supplemental
Agreement that establishes the conditions under which Defendants would be able to terminate the
Settlement based on whether requests for exclusion from the Class reach a specified threshold. See
Stipulation, 48.4. This type of agreement is standard in securities class actions. See, e.g., Rubinstein
v. Gonzalez, No. 1:14-cv-09465, Stipulation of Settlement, ECF 274-1 at 48.3 (N.D. Ill. June 19,
2019) (Dow, J.). Lead Plaintiff and Defendants have no other agreements with each other.

d. The Settlement Treats Class Members Equitably

Under the Plan of Allocation, eligible claimants will receive their pro rata share of the
recovery based on, among other things, the number of shares purchased, when the shares were
purchased, and whether they were sold or held. Gilardi Decl., Ex. A (Notice at 4-7). Lead Plaintiff
will receive the same type of pro rata recovery (based on its Recognized Claim as calculated under
the Plan of Allocation) as all other similarly situated Grubhub share purchasers. Thus, the
Settlement treats Class Members equitably.

5. The Endorsement of Lead Counsel and the Reaction of the
Class Favor Approval

In addition to the Rule 23(e)(2) factors, the Seventh Circuit has noted that the “opinion of
competent counsel,” the “amount of opposition to the settlement,” and “the reaction of members of
the class to the settlement” are also relevant considerations. See Accretive, 773 F.3d at 863.

Here, the settled claims have been litigated and settled by experienced and competent counsel
on both sides of the case. Lead Counsel is well known for its many years of experience and success
in complex class action litigation. See Barz Decl., §921-23; http://rgrdlaw.com. Based on its
extensive experience and expertise, Lead Counsel has determined that the Settlement is in the best

interest of the Class after weighing the substantial benefits of the Settlement against the numerous

-13 -
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obstacles to a better recovery after continued litigation. See Barz Decl., §11. This endorsement
favors final approval. See Schulte, 805 F. Supp. 2d at 586-87 (holding opinion of counsel with
“extensive experience” that the settlement was beneficial to the class and met the requirements of
Rule 23 “supports [the court’s] approval of the Settlement”).

Moreover, as discussed in §III above, the Claims Administrator has sent notice to tens of
thousands of potential Class Members in accordance with the Preliminary Approval Order. While
the deadline for the Class Members to exclude themselves or object is December 22, 2022, to date no
objections and no requests for exclusion have been received.* Gilardi Decl., 16. The Lead Plaintiff
Pension Funds are Class Members with significant losses who participated in and oversaw the
Litigation, and they endorse the Settlement. See Albritton Decl., 95, 7; Nye Decl., 445, 7. This
favorable reaction by the Class also supports final approval.

Thus, each Rule 23(e)(2) and Accretive factor is satisfied. Lead Plaintiff respectfully submits
that the Settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate, and requests that the Court grant final approval.

B. The Plan of Allocation Warrants Final Approval

Lead Plaintiff also seeks approval of the Plan of Allocation, which is set forth in full in the
Notice. See Gilardi Decl., Ex. A. Assessment of a plan of allocation under Rule 23 is governed by
the same standards of review applicable to the settlement as a whole — the plan must be fair and
reasonable. See Retsky, 2001 WL 1568856, at *3. Here, the Plan of Allocation was developed by
Lead Counsel in conjunction with its damages expert and is an equitable method of distributing the
Net Settlement Fund to Authorized Claimants. The Plan of Allocation distributes the Net Settlement

Fund on a pro rata basis, as determined by the ratio that an Authorized Claimant’s Recognized Loss

4 Of course, the mere existence of objections or requests for exclusion does not preclude approval of the

agreement. Accretive, 773 F.3d 859 (affirming settlement approval over objection); Schulte, 805 F. Supp. 2d
560 (approving settlement over 10 objections); Rubinstein v. Gonzalez, No. 1:14-cv-09465, Order, ECF 297
(N.D. IlL. Oct. 22,2019) (Dow, J.) (approving settlement with 10 requests for exclusion). Lead Plaintiff will
file reply papers on January 5, 2023 that will address any requests for exclusion or objections received.

-14 -
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Amount bears to the total Recognized Loss Amount of all Authorized Claimants. See Gilardi Decl.,
Ex. A (Notice at 4-7). Calculation of an Authorized Claimant’s Recognized Loss Amount will
depend upon several factors, including when the shares were held, purchased, or sold. See id. This
method of distributing settlement funds is fair, reasonable, and adequate. See, e.g., Macovski v.
Groupon, Inc.,No. 1:20-cv-02581, Notice, ECF 110-1 (N.D. I1l. June 27, 2022) (setting forth similar
plan of allocation); Macovski v. Groupon, Inc., 2022 WL 17256387 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 28, 2022)
(Kennelly, J.) (approving plan of allocation).’

C. Class Certification Remains Warranted

The Court previously, for settlement purposes only, preliminarily approved this Litigation as
a class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. ECF 99,
994-5. None of the facts regarding certification of the Class have changed since Lead Plaintiff
submitted its motion for preliminary approval, and there has been no objection to certification.
Accordingly, Lead Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court grant final certification of the Class
and appoint Lead Plaintiff as class representative and Lead Counsel as class counsel, for settlement
purposes only, pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3).

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in this memorandum, in the accompanying declarations, and in the Fee
Memorandum, Lead Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court approve the Settlement and the

Plan of Allocation as fair, reasonable, and adequate, and certify the Class.

> See also Rubinstein v. Gonzalez, No. 1:14-cv-09465, Notice, ECF 274-1 (N.D. I11. June 19, 2019) (setting
forth similar plan of allocation); Rubinstein v. Gonzalez, No. 1:14-cv-09465, Order, ECF 296 (N.D. Ill.
Oct. 22, 2019) (Dow, J.) (approving plan of allocation).
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Foreword

| am excited to share NERA's Recent Trends in Securities Class Action Litigation:
2021 Full-Year Review with you. This year’s edition builds on work carried out

over three decades by many members of NERA's Securities and Finance Practice.
This year’s report continues our analyses of trends in filings and settlements and
presents new analyses related to current topics such as special purpose acquisition
companies. Although space does not permit us to present all the analyses the
authors have undertaken while working on this year’s edition or to provide details
on the statistical analysis of settlement amounts, we hope you will contact us if you
want to learn more about our research or our work related to securities litigations.
On behalf of NERA's Securities and Finance Practice, | thank you for taking the time
to review our work and hope you find it informative.

Dr. David Tabak
Managing Director
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Recent Trends in Securities Class Action Litigation:
2021 Full-Year Review

Over 10% of New Federal Filings Were Related to Special Purpose Acquisition Companies
Substantially Fewer Merger Objections Filed, Leading to a Decline in Aggregate New Filings
Total Resolutions, Average and Median Settlement Values Declined

By Janeen Mclntosh and Svetlana Starykh'

25 January 2022

Introduction

For the first time since 2016, fewer than 300 new federal securities class action suits were

filed.2 There were 205 cases filed in 2021, a decline from the 321 suits filed in 2020. Although
substantially lower than the number of cases filed annually between 2017 and 2019, the 2021 level
is well within the pre-2017 historical range. The decline in the aggregate number of new cases

filed was driven by the notable decrease in the number of merger-objection suits in 2021. More
specifically, new merger-objection filings declined by more than 85% between 2020 and 2021. Of
the new cases filed in 2021, over 30% were filed against defendants in the electronic technology
and services sector and 40% were filed in the Second Circuit. The most common allegation included
in the complaints was misled future performance while the proportion of cases with an allegation
related to merger-integration issues doubled, driven primarily by the numerous filings related to
special purpose acquisition companies. In 2021, there were 20 securities class action cases filed with
a COVID-19-related claim alleged in the complaint, a decrease from the 33 suits filed in 2020.

Of the 239 cases resolved in 2021, 153 were dismissed and 86 resolved through a settlement. This
is a decline in total dismissed cases and total resolutions relative to 2020. Compared to 2020, there
was an increase in both dismissed and settled non-merger-objection cases. There was a substantial
decrease in merger-objection cases dismissed and one more such suit settled than in 2020. This
decline in the number of dismissed merger-objection cases not only offset the increase in standard
case resolutions, but also led to a lower aggregate number of cases resolved in 2021.

An evaluation of securities class action suits filed and resolved between 1 January 2000 and 31
December 2021 reveals the vast majority had a motion to dismiss filed. Of the 96% of cases with a
motion to dismiss filed, a decision was reached in 73% of the cases prior to resolution of the case.
Of the cases with a decision on a motion to dismiss, approximately 56% were granted. Among the
same group of cases, a motion for class certification was filed in only 16% of the securities class
actions. Of that 16%, a decision was reached in 56% of the cases prior to the case resolution, with
the motion for class certification granted in 83% of the cases with a decision.

www.nera.com 1
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In 2021, aggregate settlements amounted to $1.8 billion, with more than 50% of this amount
associated with the top 10 highest settlements for the year. The average settlement value decreased
by over 50% in 2021 to $21 million, the lowest recorded average in the last 10 years. Given that
there were no “mega” settlements (settlements of $1 billion or greater) in 2021, the average
settlement value after excluding “mega” settlements remains unchanged at $21 million. For 2021,
the median settlement value was $8 million, the lowest recorded median value since 2017. The
median annual settlement value for 2021 is approximately 40% lower than the inflation-adjusted
median value observed in the prior three years.

Trends in Filings

Following the passage of PSLRA in 1996, there have been over 100 federal securities class action
(SCA) suits filed each year. With the exception of 2001, when numerous IPO laddering cases were
filed, there were fewer than 300 new cases filed annually between 1996 and 2016. In 2017, there
were substantially more new suits filed, with more than 415 annual cases recorded—a trend that
continued through 2019. This uptick in filings was mostly due to the considerable increase in
merger-objection cases. However, in both 2020 and 2021, this higher annual level of new cases
filed did not persist.

For the second consecutive year, new securities class action filings declined, falling to the lowest
level since 2009. In 2021, there were 205 new cases filed, which is more than 50% lower than the
annual levels of filings recorded each year between 2017 and 2019. See Figure 1.

Figure 1. Federal Filings and Number of Companies Listed in the United States
January 1996-December 2021
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In addition to analyzing trends in aggregate filings, we also evaluated the number of filings relative
to the number of companies listed on the NYSE and Nasdaq exchanges. There were 5,956 listed
companies as of September 2021, which represents a 15% increase over the 2020 level and a
noteworthy change from the minor year-to-year fluctuations observed between 2016 and 2019.

Even though there was a significant decrease in new federal SCA filings in 2021, the decline

was not consistent across all case types. While new filings of Rule 10b-5 and Section 11 and/or
Section 12 cases increased, new filings of merger objections, Rule 10b-5 only, Section 11 and/

or 12 only, and other SCA cases declined. The most notable was the decline in merger-objection
filings, which decreased by more than 85% from 103 new filings in 2020 to only 14 new filings in
2021. See Figure 2.

Figure 2. Federal Filings by Type
January 2012-December 2021

500 |
B Merger-Objection Filings
450 | B Other Filings 428
424
M Rule 10b-5 Filings 420
400 | [ Rule 10b-5 and Section 11 and/or 12 Filings
Section 11 or 12 Filings
350 |
" 321
=) 205
£ 300 299
[
1
3 250 92 03
e ] 232
g 210 220 220
2 42 12 9 205
g 200 = 13
5
> 55 13
18
150 . 16
183 184
100 4 148 174
119 135
50/
27
ol 13 o 15 12 12 , 2 @ 17
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Filing Year

www.nera.com 3



Case: 1:19-cv-07665 Document #: 104-1 Filed: 12/08/22 Page 7 of 34 PagelD #:2119

Since 2018, the percentage of securities class action suits filed against defendants in the electronic
technology and services sector has shown steady growth. Of the new cases filed in 2017, less than
15% were filed against defendants in the electronic technology and services sector compared to
over 30% against defendants in the same sector in 2021. Between 2019 and 2021, the percentage
of securities class action suits filed against defendants in the health technology and services sector
also increased from 20% to 26%. See Figure 3.

Figure 3. Percentage of Federal Filings by Sector and Year
Excludes Merger Objections
January 2017-December 2021
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In 2020, we observed a spike in new federal securities class action filings in the Ninth Circuit.

This pattern did not persist in 2021. In 2021, the Second Circuit received the highest number of
new SCA cases filed while the number of filings in the Ninth Circuit returned to pre-2020 levels.
However, the number of new filings in the Third Circuit declined to a five-year low with fewer than
15 cases filed in this circuit in 2021. See Figure 4.

Figure 4. Federal Filings by Circuit and Year
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Figure 5.
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Of the new federal securities class action cases filed in 2021, 40% alleged violations related to
misleading future performance, the most common alleged violation for the year.* Allegations of
violations related to missed earnings guidance continue to be a common allegation, with 24% of
cases involving this claim. The percentage of cases alleging violations of accounting issues and
regulatory issues declined in 2021, each occurring in less than 20% of new cases filed. In 2021,
there was an uptick in the number of SCA filings with an allegation related to merger-integration
issues included in the complaint. This increase was driven by the substantial number of cases
involving special purpose acquisition companies (SPAC) filed in 2021. Excluding these SPAC cases,
only 5% of cases included an allegation related to merger-integration issues. See Figure 5.

Allegations
Shareholder Class Actions with Alleged Violations of Rule 10b-5, Section 11, and/or Section 12
January 2017-December 2021
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Event-Driven and Special Cases

As part of our annual review process, we identify potential development areas for securities class
action filings and review any new trends on previously identified areas.®> Below, we summarize some
of these areas for the last three years.

COVID-19

The first federal securities class action suit with claims related to COVID-19 included in the complaint
was filed in March 2020. Since then, there have been a total of 52 additional suits. In 2021, there
were 20 securities class action cases filed with a COVID-19-related claim, a decrease from the 33
suits filed in 2020. While the Ninth Circuit was the jurisdiction with the highest percentage of
COVID-19-related filings in 2020, the Second Circuit was the most common venue in 2021.

Of the 2021 cases filed with a COVID-19-related claim in the complaint, 50% were against
defendants in the technology services economic sector. Among the 2020 cases filed with a
COVID-19 claim, only 15% were against defendants within this sector. See Figure 6.

Figure 6. Percentage of COVID-19-Related Federal Filings by Sector and Year
March 2020-December 2021
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In 2020, a violation related to regulatory issues was the most common allegation among the
COVID-19-related cases. However, in 2021, only one case with a COVID-19 claim included an
allegation of regulatory issues. In contrast, the most common allegation included in the COVID-19-
related suits filed in 2021 related to future performance. See Figure 7.

Figure 7. Percentage of COVID-19-Related Federal Filings by Allegation and Year
March 2020-December 2021
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SPAC

In 2021, numerous federal cases were filed related to special purpose acquisition companies (SPACs).
Between January 2021 and December 2021, a total of 24 cases related to SPACs were filed, a
substantial increase from the one case filed in 2020.
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These suits were filed against defendants in a number of sectors, with defendants in the
consumer durables, technology services, and finance sectors being the most frequently targeted
in 2020-2021. See Figure 8.

Figure 8. Number of SPAC-Related Federal Filings by Sector
December 2020-December 2021
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Of the 25 SPAC cases filed in 2020 and 2021, all but one included an allegation related to merger-
integration issues. Claims related to misleading earnings guidance were found in 11 of the 25 SPAC
cases. In total, these suits included 49 allegations, or an average of approximately two allegations

per suit. See Figure 9.

Figure 9. Number of SPAC-Related Federal Filings by Allegation
December 2020-December 2021 B Federal Filings

Allegations Number of Filings Total Filings

Accounting Issues

EEEEEE
vissed Earnings Guidance -1 OO

EEEEEE

=

Misled Future Performance

Regulatory Issues

Merger-Integration Issues

Environmental Issues

o
o

www.nera.com 9



Case: 1:19-

cv-07665 Document #: 104-1 Filed: 12/08/22 Page 13 of 34 PagelD #:2125

Figure 10. Event-Driven and Other Special Cases by Filing Year
January 2019-December 2021
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Bribery/Kickbacks
In 2019 and 2020, there were eight and six bribery/kickback-related securities class action cases
filed, respectively. However, in 2021, there were no such cases filed. See Figure 10.

Cannabis
Over the 2019-2020 period, 13 cases were filed against defendants in the cannabis industry. In
2021, only one such securities class action case was filed. See Figure 10.

Cybersecurity Breach
Unlike some other development or special interest areas, securities class action filings related to
a cybersecurity breach continued to be filed in 2021. In both 2019 and 2020 individually, three

cases were filed related to a cybersecurity breach. While still only a handful of cases, there was an

increase in 2021 with five such cases filed. See Figure 10.

Environment

In 2021, there was one environment-related case filed. This is a decrease from the five cases filed in

2020 and the four cases filed in 2019. See Figure 10.

Money Laundering

In total, six cases with claims of money laundering were filed in the 2019-2020 period, with three

cases filed each year. No cases with money laundering claims were filed in 2021. See Figure 10.
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Trends in Resolutions

Resolutions consist of both dismissed and settled cases.® In any one year, the aggregate number
of resolutions may be affected by changes in either or both categories. For our analysis, we review
changes within these categories as well as the trends for merger objections and non-merger-
objection cases separately. In addition, we review the current status of securities class action suits
filed in the last 10 years.

In 2021, 239 cases were resolved, the lowest recorded level of resolutions since 2015. Of those,
153 were dismissed and 86 resolved through a settlement. This is a decrease in both aggregate
resolutions and dismissals compared to 2020. However, compared to the pre-2017 resolutions, the
239 cases resolved is well within the historical range of annual resolutions. See Figure 11.

Figure 11. Number of Resolved Cases: Dismissed or Settled
January 2012-December 2021
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A review of the resolution pattern by type of case reveals differing trends. Although not a
substantial increase, the number of non-merger-objection resolutions in 2021 was the highest
recorded in the last 10 years. While there was a modest increase in both the number of
non-merger-objection suits dismissed and settled relative to 2020, there was a decrease in dismissed
merger-objection cases. In fact, the number of merger-objection suits dismissed in 2021 was more
than 80% fewer than the number of similar suits dismissed in 2020. This decline in the number

of dismissed merger-objection suits was more than sufficient to offset the increase in Rule 10b-5,
Section 11, and/or 12 case (standard case) resolutions, resulting in a lower aggregate number of
cases resolved in 2021.

For each filing year since 2015, more cases have been resolved in favor of the defendant than have
been settled. This is consistent with historical trends, which have indicated that settlements typically
occur later in the litigation process. Reviewing cases filed in 2020, as of December 2020, 6% were
dismissed and 94% remained pending.” For the same group of cases, as of December 2021, 28%
were dismissed and only 2% were settled. Of the cases filed in 2021, a higher proportion of cases
were dismissed in the year of filing than the cases filed in 2020, with 10% dismissed as of year-end
2021. See Figure 12.

Figure 12. Status of Cases as Percentage of Federal Filings by Filing Year
Excludes Merger Objections and Verdicts
January 2012-December 2021
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While 83% of cases resolve in four years or less, over half of cases are resolved between one and
three years after filing.® See Figure 13.

Figure 13. Time from First Complaint Filing to Resolution
Excludes Merger Objections and Laddering Cases
Cases Filed January 2003—-December 2017 and Resolved January 2003-December 2021
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“The number of merger-objection suits dismissed in 2021
was more than 80% fewer than the number of similar suits
dismissed in 2020. This decline in the number of dismissed
merger-objection suits was more than sufficient to offset the
increase in standard case resolutions, resulting in a lower
aggregate number of cases resolved in 2021.”
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Analysis of Motions

In addition to tracking filing and resolution information for federal securities class actions, NERA
also tracks decisions on motions to dismiss and motions for class certification, and the status of any
motion as of the resolution of each case.’

Motion to Dismiss

Of the securities class action cases filed and resolved between 1 January 2012 and 31 December
2021, a motion to dismiss was filed in 96%. Among those, a decision was reached in 73% of cases.
Of the cases with a decision on a motion to dismiss, approximately 56% were granted while only
19% were denied. Lastly, of the 96% of cases with a motion to dismiss filed, plaintiffs voluntarily
dismissed the action in 17%, while the motion to dismiss was withdrawn by defendants only in an
additional 2%. See Figure 14.

Figure 14. Filing and Resolutions of Motions to Dismiss
Cases Filed and Resolved January 2012-December 2021
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Motion for Class Certification

A motion for class certification was filed in less than 20% of the securities class action suits filed
and resolved between 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2021. This is partly due to the fact that a
substantial number of cases are either dismissed or settled before the class-certification stage of the
case is reached. A decision was reached in 56% of the cases where a motion for class certification
was filed, with the motion being withdrawn by plaintiffs in an additional 1% of the cases. Among
the cases with a decision, the motion for class certification was granted in 83% and partially
granted and partially denied in an additional 1% of cases. See Figure 15.

Figure 15. Filing and Resolutions of Motions for Class Certification
Cases Filed and Resolved January 2012-December 2021
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Approximately half of decisions on motions for class certification occur between two and three
years after the filing of the first complaint. See Figure 16.

Figure 16. Time from First Complaint Filing to Class Certification Decision
Cases Filed and Resolved January 2012-December 2021
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“A motion for class certification was filed in less than
20% of the securities class action suits filed and resolved
between 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2021.”
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Trends in Settlement Values

In 2021, aggregate settlements amounted to $1.8 billion. This amount is $400 million lower than
the inflation-adjusted $2.2 billion aggregate settlement amount in 2019, and considerably lower
than the inflation-adjusted amounts of $3.1 billion and $5.2 billion in 2020 and 2018, respectively.
Trends in settlement values can be evaluated using a variety of metrics, including distributions of
settlement values, average settlement values, and median settlement values. While annual average
settlement values can be a helpful statistic, these values may be impacted by one or, in some cases,
a few very high settlement amounts. Unlike averages, the median settlement value is unaffected by
these very high “outlier” settlement amounts and gives insight into the most frequent settlement
amounts. To understand what more “typical” cases look like, we also analyze the average and
median settlement values for cases with a settlement amount under $1 billion, thus excluding
these “outlier” settlement amounts. For the analysis of settlement values, our data is limited to
non-merger-objection cases with positive settlement values.”

Figure 17. Average Settlement Value
Excludes Merger Objections and Settlements for $0 to the Class
January 2012-December 2021

Average Settlement Value ($Million)

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

2012

M Nominal $
i} Inflation Adjustment

M + [ $ Adjusted for Inflation

$96
T
|
i ! $85
| 1 QT
P $76
! l r=7
! I
|
$61
| | i
|
1 $47
o
$40 ‘
el P $74
‘ ! $69
$27 $29
$52 i 21
$44 3
$34
$24 $27
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Settlement Year

www.nera.com 17



Case: 1:19-cv-07665 Document #: 104-1 Filed: 12/08/22 Page 21 of 34 PagelD #:2133

The average settlement value in 2021 was $21 million, which is more than 50% lower than the
2020 inflation-adjusted average of $47 million and marks the lowest recorded average in the last
10 years. The inflation-adjusted average settlement value has ranged from a low of $21 million in
2021 to a high of inflation-adjusted $96 million in 2013, partly due to the presence or absence of
one or two “outlier” or "mega” settlements, which for this purpose are single case settlements of
$1 billion or higher. See Figure 17. Unlike in 2020 when there was one “mega” settlement, there
were no cases resolved with a settlement amount above $1 billion in 2021. In fact, the highest
recorded settlement amount is 2021 was $155 million.

Once settlements greater than $1 billion are excluded, the inflation-adjusted annual average
settlement values trend is more stable, ranging from $21 million to $33 million in the last five years.
In this group of settlements, the average settlement value for 2021 was $21 million, still the lowest
annual average within the most recent 10 years. See Figure 18.

Figure 18. Average Settlement Value
Excludes Settlements over $1 Billion, Merger Objections, and Settlements for $0 to the Class
January 2012-December 2021

70 |
$64 M Nominal $
—--= $63 -1 Inflation Adjustment
\ [ T
60 | | | : i W + [ $ Adjusted for Inflation
1 ! !
| I
! o
1
i $52
~ 50/ | |
: -
= ‘ \
s $43 —
v oo
o L $40
£
> } | ! !
g | . $33
1}
e 32
E 30 1 : 330 i I
§ - I
§ $27 i i
o $54 $54 o
g -
g $a5 $21
< 20
$34
$30 $28 $30
$24
10 |
O - T T T T T T
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

18 www.nera.com

Settlement Year



Case: 1:19-cv-07665 Document #: 104-1 Filed: 12/08/22 Page 22 of 34 PagelD #:2134

While there was a shift upward in the annual distribution of nominal settlement values between
2017 and 2020, this trend did not persist in 2021. Instead, in 2021, nearly 60% of cases resolved for
settlement amounts less than $10 million. This increase in the proportion of cases settling for lower
values in 2021 was accompanied by a decrease in the proportion of cases resolving for $100 million
or greater, with fewer than 5% of settlements falling in this range. See Figure 19.

Figure 19. Distribution of Settlement Values
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The median annual settlement value for 2021 is approximately 40% lower than the inflation-
adjusted median value observed in 2018, 2019, and 2020. For 2021, the median settlement value
was $8 million, the lowest recorded median value since 2017. See Figure 20.

Figure 20. Median Settlement Value
Excludes Settlements over $1 Billion, Merger Objections, and Settlements for S0 to the Class
January 2012-December 2021
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Top Settlements in 2021

Table 1 summarizes the 10 largest settlements reached in securities class action suits between 1
January 2021 and 31 December 2021. In total, the 10 largest settlements accounted for more than
50% of the aggregate settlement amount reached in 2021. Six of the top 10 settlements were
reached with defendants in the health technology and services or technology services economic
sectors. The Second Circuit was the most common circuit for these cases, accounting for four of the
top 10 settlements.

Table 1. Top 10 2021 Securities Class Action Settlements

Total Plaintiffs” Attorneys’
Settlement Settlement Fees and Expenses
Ranking Defendant Filing Date Date Value (SMillion) Value (SMillion) Circuit Economic Sector
1 Snap, Inc. 16 May 17 09 Mar 21 $154.7 $41.0 9th Technology Services
2 DaVita Inc. 1 Feb 17 30 Mar 21 $135.0 $41.0 10th Health Services
3 Allergan plc (f/k/a Actavis plc) 22 Dec 16 17 Nov 21 $130.0 $35.2 3rd Health Technology
4 Tableau Software, Inc. 28 Jul 17 14 Sep 21 $95.0 $27.7 2nd Technology Services
5 Cognizant Technology Solutions Corp. 50ct 16 20 Dec 21 $95.0 $19.5 3rd Technology Services
6 The Southern Company 20 Jan 17 05 Feb 21 $87.5 $24.9 11th Utilities
7 MetLife, Inc. 12 Jan 12 14 Apr 21 $84.0 $23.5 2nd Finance
8 Towers Watson & Co. 21 Nov 17 21 May 21 $75.0 $13.7 4th Commercial Services
9 CannTrust Holdings Inc. 10 Jul 19 02 Dec 21 $66.4 N/A* 2nd Health Technology
10 Chemical and Mining Company 19 Mar 15 26 Apr 21 $62.5 $12.1 2nd Process Industries
of Chile Inc.
Total $985.1 $238.5

*Fees only, expenses are not available yet.

Table 2 summarizes the 10 largest federal securities class action settlements since the passage of
PSLRA. Since the Petrobras settlement in 2018, the settlements in this list have all been above
$1 billion, ranging from $1.1 billion to $7.2 billion.
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Table 2. Top 10 Federal Securities Class Action Settlements (As of 31 December 2021)

Codefendent Settlements

Plaintiffs’
Total Financial Accounting Attorneys’
Settlement Institutions Firms Fees and
Filing Settlement Value Value Value Expenses Value
Ranking Defendant Date Year(s) (SMillion) (SMillion) (SMillion) (SMillion) Circuit  Economic Sector
1 ENRON Corp. 22 Oct 01 2003-2010  $7,242 $6,903 $73 $798 5th Industrial Services
2 WorldCom, Inc. 30 Apr 02 2004-2005 $6,196 $6,004 $103 $530 2nd  Communications
3 Cendant Corp. 16 Apr 98 2000 $3,692 $342 $467 $324 3rd  Finance
4 Tyco International, Ltd. 23 Aug 02 2007 $3,200 No codefendant $225 $493 1st  Producer
Manufacturing
5  Petroleo Brasileiro S.A.- Petrobras 8 Dec 14 2018 $3,000 S0 $50 $205 2nd  Energy Minerals
6  AOL Time Warner Inc. 18 Jul 02 2006 $2,650 No codefendant $100 $151 2nd  Consumer
Services
7 Bank of America Corp. 21 Jan 09 2013 $2,425 No codefendant No codefendant S177 2nd  Finance
8  Household International, Inc. 19 Aug 02 2006-2016 $1,577 Dismissed Dismissed $427 7th  Finance
9  Nortel Networks 2 Mar 01 2006 $1,143 No codefendant No $94 2nd  Electronic
Technology
10 Royal Ahold, NV 25 Feb 03 2006 $1,100 $0 $0 $170 2nd  Retail trade
Total $32,224 $13,249 $1,017 $3,368

22 www.nera.com

NERA-Defined Investor Losses

To estimate the potential aggregate loss to investors as a result of purchasing the defendant’s
stock during the alleged class period, NERA has developed its own proprietary variable, NERA-
Defined Investor Losses, using publicly available data. The NERA-Defined Investor Losses measure is
constructed assuming investors had invested in stocks during the class period whose performance
was comparable to that of the S&P 500 Index. Over the years, NERA has reviewed and examined
more than 2,000 settlements and found, of the variables analyzed, this proprietary variable is the
most powerful predictor of settlement amount.”
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While settlement values are highly correlated with Investor Losses, the relationship between
settlement amount and Investor Losses is not linear. More specifically, the ratio is higher for smaller
cases than for cases with larger NERA-Defined Investor Losses. See Figure 21.

Figure 21. Median Settlement Value as a Percentage of NERA-Defined Investor Losses
By Investor Losses
Cases Filed and Settled December 2012—-December 2021
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The median Investor Losses for cases settled in 2021 was $731 million, the highest recorded value
since 2013, but less than 5% higher than the 2020 value. Over the last 10 years, the annual median
Investor Losses have ranged from a high of $785 million to a low of $358 million. Following an
uptick in the median ratio of settlement amount to Investor Losses in 2017 to 2.5%, the ratio
declined through 2019, with only modest increases in both 2020 and 2021. See Figure 22.
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Figure 22. Median NERA-Defined Investor Losses and Median Ratio of Settlement to Investor Losses by Settlement Year
January 2012-December 2021
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In analyzing drivers of settlement amounts, NERA has identified the following key factors:

« NERA-Defined Investor Losses, as defined above;

+ The market capitalization of the issuer immediately after the end of the class period;

-+ The types of securities, in addition to common stock, alleged to have been affected by
the fraud;

« Variables that serve as a proxy for the merit of plaintiffs’ allegations (such as whether the
company has already been sanctioned by a governmental or regulatory agency or paid a
fine in connection with the allegations);

+ The stage of litigation at the time of settlement; and

« Whether an institution or public pension fund is lead or named plaintiff.

Median Ratio of Settlement to Investor Losses
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Among cases settled between December 2012 and September 2021, these factors account for a
substantial fraction of the variation observed in actual settlements. See Figure 23.

Figure 23. Predicted vs. Actual Settlements
Investor Losses Using S&P 500 Index
Cases Settled December 2012-September 2021
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Trends in Plaintiffs’ Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses
Plaintiffs” attorneys’ fees and expenses related to work on securities class action suits have varied

substantially over time by settlement size. However, the median of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and
expenses as a percentage of settlement amount has been fairly consistent since 1996.
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Between 2012 and 2020, the annual aggregate plaintiffs” attorneys’ fees and expenses ranged from
a low of $467 million in 2017 to a high of $1.6 billion in 2016. For 2021, the aggregate plaintiffs’
attorneys’ fees and expenses associated with settled cases was $451 million. Given the absence

of any settlements above $500 million in 2021, similar to 2019, there were no plaintiffs’ attorneys’
fees and expenses associated with settlements of $500 million or higher. And while there was

an increase in the aggregate fees and expenses for settlements under $100 million, there was an
offsetting decrease in the aggregate fees and expenses for settlements between $100 million and
$500 million. See Figure 24.

Figure 24. Aggregate Plaintiffs’ Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses by Settlement Size
January 2012-December 2021
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As settlement size increases, fees and expenses represent a declining percentage of settlement
value. More specifically, while the percentage is only 10.5% for cases that settled for over $1
billion in the last 10 years, for cases with settlement amounts under $5 million, fees and expenses
represent 34% of the settlement. See Figure 25.

Figure 25. Median of Plaintiffs’ Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses by Size of Settlement
Excludes Merger Objections and Settlements for $0 to the Class
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Conclusion

New securities class action cases filed declined to 205 in 2021, the lowest number of annual
filings in the last 10 years but well within the historical range. This decline in total filings was
driven primarily by the 85% decrease in merger-objection cases between 2020 and 2021. Due

to the numerous filings related to SPACs, the percentage of cases alleging a violation related to
merger integration issues increased to 17% while violations related to misled future performance,
the most common allegation, were included in 40% of the 2021 suits filed. In 2021, there was a
decline in total resolutions, resulting from a notable decrease in the number of merger-objection
cases dismissed.

Of the 96% of cases with a motion to dismiss filed, a decision was reached in 73% of the cases
prior to resolution of the case, with the motion to dismiss granted in approximately 56% of these
cases. Among cases with a motion for class certification filed, a decision was reached in 56%
prior to the case resolution, with the motion for class certification granted in 83% of the cases
with a decision.

Aggregate settlements in 2021 amounted to $1.8 billion, the lowest total in the 2018-2021 period.
No cases resolved with a settlement amount of $1 billion or higher in the last year. The average
settlement value for all non-merger-objection cases with positive settlement values, and cases of
less than $1 billion, decreased in 2021 to $21 million. The median settlement value showed a similar
trend, declining by approximately 40% to $8 million.
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Notes

1 This edition of NERA's report on “Recent Trends in
Securities Class Action Litigation” expands on previous
work by our colleagues Lucy P. Allen, Dr. Vinita
Juneja, Dr. Denise Neumann Martin, Dr. Jordan Miley,
Robert Patton, Dr. Stephanie Plancich, and others.

The authors thank Dr. David Tabak and Benjamin
Seggerson for helpful comments on this edition. We
thank researchers in NERA's Securities and Finance
Practice for their valuable assistance. These individuals
receive credit for improving this report; any errors and
omissions are those of the authors. NERA's proprietary
securities class action database and all analyses

reflected in this report are limited to federal case filings

and resolutions.

2 Data for this report were collected from multiple
sources, including Institutional Shareholder Services,
complaints, case dockets, Dow Jones Factiva,

Bloomberg Finance, FactSet Research Systems, Nasdag,

Intercontinental Exchange, US Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) filings, and public press reports.

3 NERA tracks class actions involving securities that
have been filed in federal courts. Most of these cases
allege violations of federal securities laws; others
allege violations of common law, including breach of
fiduciary duty, as with some merger-objection cases;
still others are filed in federal court under foreign
or state law. If multiple actions are filed against the
same defendant, are related to the same allegations,
and are in the same circuit, we treat them as a single
filing. However, the first two actions filed in different
circuits are treated as separate filings. If cases filed in
different circuits are consolidated, we revise our count
to reflect the consolidation. Therefore, case counts
for a particular year may change over time. Different
assumptions for consolidating filings would probably
lead to counts that are directionally similar but may,
in certain circumstances, lead observers to draw a
different conclusion about short-term trends in filings.

4 Most securities class action complaints include multiple

allegations. For this analysis, all allegations from the
complaint are included and, as such, the total number
of allegations exceeds the total number of filings.

5 Itis important to note that, due to the small number
of cases in some of these categories, the findings
summarized here may be driven by one or two cases.
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Here the word “dismissed” is used as shorthand for
all cases resolved without settlement; it includes
cases in which a motion to dismiss was granted (and
not appealed or appealed unsuccessfully), voluntary
dismissals, cases terminated by a successful motion
for summary judgment, or an unsuccessful motion for
class certification.

See Janeen Mclintosh and Svetlana Starykh, “Recent
Trends in Securities Class Action Litigation: 2020 Full-
Year Review,” NERA Economic Consulting, p. 13, Figure
11, available at https://www.nera.com/publications/
archive/2021/recent-trends-in-securities-class-action-
litigation--2020-full-y.html.

Analyses in this section exclude IPO laddering cases
and merger-objection cases.

NERA's analysis of motions only includes securities class
action suits involving common stock, with or without
other securities, and an allegation of Rule 10b-5
violation alone or accompanied by Section 11, and/or
Section 12 violation.

10 For our analysis, NERA includes settlements that have

had the first hearing of approval of case settlement
by the court. This means we do not include partial
settlements or tentative settlements that have been
announced by plaintiffs and/or defendants. When
evaluating trends in average and median settlement
values, we limit our data to non-merger-objection
cases with settlements of more than $0 to the class.

11 NERA-Defined Investor Losses is only calculable

for cases involving allegations of damages to
common stock over a defined class period. As
a result, we have not calculated this metric for
cases such as merger objections.
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NERA Economic Consulting (www.nera.com) is a global firm of experts dedicated to applying
economic, finance, and quantitative principles to complex business and legal challenges. For more
than six decades, we have been creating strategies, studies, reports, expert testimony, and policy
recommendations for government authorities and the world’s leading law firms and corporations.
We bring academic rigor, objectivity, and real-world industry experience to issues arising from
competition, regulation, public policy, strategy, finance, and litigation.

NERA's clients value our ability to apply and communicate state-of-the-art approaches clearly and
convincingly, our commitment to deliver unbiased findings, and our reputation for quality and
independence. Our clients rely on the integrity and skills of our unparalleled team of economists
and other experts backed by the resources and reliability of one of the world’s largest economic
consultancies. Continuing our legacy as the first international economic consultancy, NERA serves
clients from major cities across North America, Europe, and Asia Pacific.

Contacts
For further information, please contact:

Janeen Mcintosh

Senior Consultant

New York City: +1 212 345 1375
janeen.mcintosh@nera.com

Svetlana Starykh

Senior Consultant

White Plains, NY: +1 914 448 4123
svetlana.starykh@nera.com

represent the views of NERA Economic Consulting insights from NERA, please visit

The opinions expressed herein do not necessarily To receive publications, news, and

or any other NERA consultant. www.nera.com/subscribe.
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